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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
WAYCROSS DIVISION

CHARLES RUFUS THOMLEY, |J
Plaintiff, CIVIL ACTION NO.: 5:14cv-73

V.
RAMSEY BENNETT; LT. RALPH MILLER;

HEATHER SPRADLY; and DR. PETER
ROBLE,

Defendants

ORDER and MAGISTRATE JUDGE'S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

Plaintiff, who is currently housed the Jenkins Correctional Facility in Mille Georgia,
filed a cause of action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 contesting certain conditions of
confinement at the Pierce County Jail in Blackshear, Georgia. (Doc. 1.) DefeRdamiey

Bennet and Ralph Millerand Defendant Heather Spradley (collectively “Defendants”) filed

Motions for Summary Judgment. (Docs. 54, 58.) Plaintiff filed Responses. (Docs. 60, 61, 6p.

For the reasons which follow,RECOMMEND that the CourGRANT Defendants’ Motions,
DISMISS Plaintiff's Complaint, CLOSE this case, andENY Plaintiff leave to proceeh
forma pauperis on appeal. Plaintiff also filed a Motion in Limine, (doc. 36), and a Motoon f
Spoliation Sanctions, (doc. 67). As set forth below, Plaintiff's MotionsDd&MISSED AS

MOOT.
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BACKGROUND*

Plaintiff assertghat while he wagletainedat the Perce County Jaikhhe was admitted to
the hospital for two (2) days and was prescribed medication for dizzinesstifiRtantends that
he was taken back to the Pierce County Jail and was placed in an upstairs cell and was not g
his medication.(Doc. 1, p. 5.) Plaintiff alleges that he told the floor officer that he was suffering
from dizziness, and the officer took him to see Defendant Spradley, the nursdiff Rlaims
that Defendant Spradley ran a test on him and told him he was fine. Plaintiff comante t
asked why he had not received his medication yet, and Defendant Spradley told him De. Wropl
had not ordered it(Id.) Plaintiff also contends that Defendant Spradley told him to tough it out
and to quit worrying.

Plaintiff avers thate was coming down the stairs later the same day when he became
dizzy and fell down the stairs(ld.) Plaintiff contends that Defendafpradleycame to the
bottom of the stairs and asked him if he could get up, but he coulscatise pain shot thrdug
his body. (Id. at p. 7.) Plaintiff asserts that he asked Defendant Spradley to get him medical
attention, but she told him she could not help him if he could not get up from the ground.
Plaintiff states that he could not get up from the floor andRe&tndant Spradley would not get
him a neck brace or back bodrdcause the Jail did not have that equipraadtleft. (1d.)

Plaintiff asserts he felt it was in his best intesest call the Emergency Medical
Technicians (“EMTSs”). Plaintiff also statethat Defendant Miller tased him in an attempt to get
Plaintiff to get off the ground, which caused Plaintiff to urinate on himselfintPlacontends
that Defendant Miller laughed at him(ld.) Plaintiff aves that Defendant Bennettme to

where he was oithe floor, and Defendant Bennetfused to get him any help. Plaintiff

! The recited allegations are taken from Plaintiffs Commiland are viewed in the light most favorable
to Plaintiff, the nommoving party.




contends hdater was taken back to the hospital by EMTs, where he was diagnosed with
bulging disc in his back and a separated shoul@dr.at p. 9.) Plaintiffs Complaintwas served
upon Defendants Spradley and Bennmsed on Plaintiffs Eighth Amendment claims for
deliberate indifference to his serious medical negdksupon Defendant Miller for an excessive
use of forceclaim. (Doc. 16.§
DISCUSSION

DefendantsSpradey and Bennetassertthey are entitled to summary judgment on
Plaintiff's deliberate indifference claim against them. Defendant Md@ertends Plaintiff did
not file a grievance concerning his claims against himafoexcessiveise offorce, and those
claims should be dismissedn the alternative, Defendant Miller avers Plaintiff cannot sustain a
viable cause of action against him. Defendants Bennett and Miller contend theyitted ®
qualified immunity. In moving for summary judgment, Defendamely on their Statements of
Material Facts, a copy of the transcript from Plaintiff's depositiddsfendant Spradley’s
affidavit, and several exhibits attached to the deposition transciaintiff filed his own

exhibitsand Brief in opposition t®efendants’ Motions.

2 |t appears Plaintiff was a pretrial detainee at the time of evaritg gise to his Complaint. Thus, his
deliberate indifference claims are properly analyzed undedtiee process clause of th@urteenth
Amendment. “Claims involving the mistreatmentf @retrial detainees in custody are governed by the
Fourteenth Amendment’'s Due Process Clause instead of the Eighth Amersd@ers and Unusual
Punishment Clause, which applies to such claims by convicted prisolBazeman v. Orum, 422 F.3d
1265, 1271 (11th Cir. 2005) (internal citation and punctuation omitdddgated on other grounds by
Kingsley v. Hendrickson, U.S.  , 135 S. Ct. 2466 (June 22, 2@&I8).error which may have
beenpresented by serving Plaintiff's Comjpiabased on Eighth Amendment principles is harmlass
Kingsleyhad yet to be decided at the time of service of Plaintiffs Compldihtthat time, “decisional
law involving prison inmates applie[d] equally to cases involving ptetatinees.”Bozanan 422 F.3d

at 1271 (internal punctuation omittedAs discussed in the body of this Report, Plaintiff's deliberate
indifference claims will be addressed at the summary judgmentiatéigbt of theKingsleydecision to

the extent such is necessarytlee resolution of Defendants’ Motians

% Plaintiff failed to submit his own statement of material facts in sijpn to Defendants’ Statements.
Plaintiff also failed to submit a declaration, affidavit, or any otherestant sworn under penalty of
perjury to countervail Defendant Spradley’s affidavit. Plaintifvi@ewarned his failure to do so would
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As set forth below, the Court agrees that Plaintiff did not exhaust his available

administrative remedies regarding his excessive force claim against Defditlar and that
Plaintiff fails to establish a genuine dispute asny fact material to his deliberate indifference
claims. Thus, Defendants’ Motions are due to be granted as a result.
l. Failure to Exhaust

A. Standard of Review

The determination of whether an inmate exhausted his available administratizieseme
prior tofiling a cause of action in federal court is a matter of abatement and sleo@sdd in a
motion to dismiss._Bryant v. Rich, 530 F.3d 1368, 1374 (11th Cir. 208®cause exhaustion
of administrative remedies is a matter in abatement and not ggnanaldjudication on the
merits, an exhaustion defense . . . is not ordinarily the proper subject for a summgargntd
instead, it should be raised in a motion to dismiss, or be treated as such ifrrasedtion for
summary judgment.” Id. at 1374-75 (internal citation omitted).“Even though a failurd¢o-
exhaust defense is ngurisdictional, it is like” a jurisdictional defense because such a
determination “ordinarily does not deal with the merits” of a particular causetahn. Id.
atl374 (internal punctuation and citation omitted). Further, a judge “may resolve factua
guestions” in instances where exhaustion of administrative remedeesiéedense before the
court. Id. In these instances, “it is proper for a judge to consider facts outside of the @eadin
and to resolve factual disputes so long as the factual disputes do not decide the mdres ang

parties have sufficient opportunity to develop a recotd.”at 1376.

render the Defendants’ statements admitted and accepted as(Boe. 16, p. 8.) The Court has
neverthelessconsidered Plaintiff's argument agst the grant of summary judgment in favor of
Defendantsas well as his supporting documentation.
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B. Exhaustion Requirements
1. Legal Requirements for Exhaustion
Where Congress explicitly mandates, prisoners seeking relief for allegsttuional
violations must first exhaust inmate grievance procedures before filinm $aderal court.See

Porter v. Nussle, 534 U.S. 516, 524 (2002). Section 1997e(a)l®f4PRitof the United States

Code states, “No action shall be brought with respect to prison conditions under section 1983
this title, or any other Federal law . . . until such administrative remedie® avaltable are
exhausted.” InPorter the Unitel States Supreme Court held that exhaustion of available
administrative remedies is mandatorigorter 534 U.S. at 523. The Supreme Court has noted

exhaustion must be “proper.” _Woodford v. Ngall U.S. 81, 92 (2006) “Proper exhaustion

demands compliance with an agency’s deadlines and other critical procedesdbeaause no
adjudicative system can function effectively without imposing some ordetgtste on the
course of its proceedings.Id. at 96-91 In other words, an institution’s requirements define
what is considered exhaustion. Jones v. Bock, 549 U.S. 199, 218 (2007).

In Turner v. Burnside, 541 F.3d 1079 (11th Cir. 2008), the Eleventh Cgeuforth a

“two-step process” thdbwer courtsmust employ whemxaminng the issue of exhaustion of
administrative remedies. First, the court is to take the plaintiff's version of ¢teerégarding
exhaustion as trudd. at 1082. If, even under the plaintiff's version of the factspthmtiff has
not exhausted, the complaint must be dismisddd. However, if theparties’ conflicting facts
leave a dispute as to whether plaintiff has exhausted, the court need not dafeplaaitiff's
facts as true.ld. Rather, “the court then proceeds to make specific findings in order to resol\
the disputed factual issuds[.Id. “Once the court makes findings on the disputed issues of fact

it then decides whether under those findings the prisoner has exhausted his availg
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administrative remedies.’ld. at 1083. The Eleventh Circuit has held that a district court may
consider materials outside of the pleadings and resolve factual disputes regandiagtion in
conjunction with a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss so long as the factual disputes do not dec
the merits of the case. SBeyant 530 F.3d at 1376-77.

The requirement that the exhaustion of remedies occur “first in an agency abtving
‘the agency [to] develop the necessary factual background upon which decisions should

based’ and giv[es] ‘the agency a chance to discover and correct its owri’ei@een v. Sec’y

for Dep’t of Corr, 212 F. App’x 869, 871 (11th Cir. 2006) (quotiAtexander v. Hawk 159

F.3d 1321, 1327 (11th Cir. 1998) (first alteration in original)). “However, ‘wflection]
1997e(a) requires that a prisoner provide as malgvant information as he reasonably can in

the administrative grievance process, it does not require mol@.'{quotingBrown v. Sikes

212 F.3d 1205, 1207 (11th Cir. 2000)). Nevertheless, the purpose of Section 1997e(a) is not
“fact-intensive ltigation” result over whether every fact relevant to the cause of action waj
included in the grievance. Hooks v. Rich, Cv&H 2006 WL 565909, at *5 (S.D. Ga. Mar. 7,
2006) (internal citation omitted). “As long as the basic purposes of exhaustidulfdied,
there does not appear to be any reason to require a prisoner plaintiff to presentvaidpete

legal and factual claims at the administrative leveld (quotinglrvin v. Zamora, 161 F. Supp.

2d 1125, 1135 (S.D. Cal. 2001)). Rather, Section 1997e(a) is intended to force inmates to ¢
state prison authorities a chance to correct constitutional violations inphsons before
resorting to federal suit and to prevent patently frivolous lawsldts.
2. Pierce County JafBrievance Procedures
Policy Number 5.21 of the Georgia Jail Standards sets forth the grievance peocedy

which was in place at Pierce County JaiJuly 2014. A inmateis allowed tofile a grievance
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under this procedure except in cases concerning mattersvhichthe Pierce County Detention
Center hasio control, disciplinary actions, or routine administrative transfers. (De8, p52.)
If the inmate is complaining about a violation of his civil rights, de¢ention officerwho is
given the grievance is to “refer the inmate to the formal grievance sgstdrahall not attempt
to resolve the complaint informally.”Id. at p. 3.) In the event the inmate’s complaint is not
handled informally, “he may file a written grievance witfive days of discovery or when he
reasonably should have discovered the inciderid?) (The grievance “shall state fully the time,
date, names of facility staff and inmates involved, witnesses, and a narrativeinditeat.”
(Id.) The grievance cadinatoris to order an investigatioof the incident within 24 hours of
receipt of the grievance, and the grievance coordinator is to provide a eesptns fifteen
days of receipt of the grievance. Once the inmate receives the formal respbisggievance,
he has three calendar day® ‘accept the findings and action taken, and so acknowledge b
signature, or appeal to the facility administratond. &t pp. 3-4.) The facility administrator has
ten days to concur with the grievance coordinator's response, request further atroestigy
provide his own solution. Once the facility administrator responds to the appealetrenge
procedure is terminatedld( at p. 4.)

With these standards and procedures in mind, the Court now addredseslabe
Miller's argument that Plaintiff did not exhaust his administrative remedies as todaissese

force claim.




3. Assessment of Plaintiff's Exhaustion (Excessive Force Cfaim)

Defendant Miller asserts Plaintiff “was clearly aware” of the grievanoegss in place at
the Pierce County Jail because he filed nineteen Inmate Request Forms andferGrevance
Formsfrom July 10, 2014, until his transfer to Lowndes County JaWaitdosta, Georgia, on
October 3, 2014. (Doc. 824 p. 11.) Defendant Millermaintains Plaintiff mentions the July 10,
2014, incident on only one request form, which was submitted on September 29, 2014, m
than two months after this alleged incidenDefendantMiller avers Plaintiff did notfile a
grievancewithin the five day window set forth by Grievance Procedure 5.21, antidrefore
failed to exhaust his administrative remedies as to his excessive force clanst &gfendant
Miller.

Plaintiff asserts in his Complaint that he filed a grievance about the events gieng ris
his cause of action. (Doc. 1, p. 5.) Howelgintiff offers nothing in response to Datant
Miller's assertion that Plaintiffailed to exhaust his administrativenredies as to his excessive
force claim. The Court nevertheless will assess Plaintiff's exhaustion by utilizing therchots
Defendant Miller submitted in support of his positfon.

The Court notes Plaintiff's assertions in his Complaint that he subnraitig@vance but
did not appeal because he never received a response to that grievance and that hehispeate

processa second tima&vithout a response. (Doc. 1, p. 4.) The Court takes Plaintiff’'s version a

* It does not appear Plaintiff exhausted his available administrative remedies &s delilberate

indifference claims against Defendants Bennett &miadley based on Defendants’ submissions
However, Defendants did not raise this issue in their Motions. Out dfummdlance of caution, the Court
shall addresthe parties’ arguments regarding Plaintiff's deliberate indiffereraienslin the body otis
Report. Further, it may be that Plaintiff did file a grievance form about his caédiare and treatment
prior to July 10, 2014, as all of the submitted requests are dated frgni@uP014, forward, but
Defendants did not include these requests in light of the assertion Pladilgidl to exhaust his
administrative remedies as to Defendant Miller only. (Doe4.$5

®> In so doing, the Court will only note the dates and/or subject matter relevtms portion ofthe
pending Motions.
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true, and under Plaintiff's version of evente exhausted his available administrative remedies.

Howeve, Defendant Miller contends Plaintiff did not exhaust his available administrativg

remediesand has submitted documentation in support of this contentBectause the parties
present the Cournvith conflicting facts on the issue of Plaintiff's exhaustion regarding his

excessive force claim, the Court must resolve this displuener, 541 F.3dt 1083.

Plaintiff submittedan Inmate Request Form on July 10, 2014, requesting to make a leggl

call. Plaintiff was permittedo make this call. (Doc. 58, p. 2.) On September 29, 2014,
Plaintiff submitted another Inmate Request Form and stated he would like to press char
aganst Defendants Bennett and Miller “for the incident that happened -A®9-Q4 where | was
attacked while laying defenseless and neglected and abysis Sheriff's Dept.” Id. at p.

16.) Plaintiff requested the proper paperwork so that he could antkenal complaint against

Defendants Miller and Bennadhd was directed to consult his lawyétlaintiff also filed three

jes

grievances beginning on September 23, 2014. He complained about his tooth and his need for

medical attentiorfior his tooth in twoof these grievances amadbouthis mail being opened in the
third grievance. Id. at pp. 18-20.)

There is no evidence before the Court indicating that Plaintiff properlyustdth his
administrative remedies relating to his excessive force claim against Dafévitler or any

other of the occurrences of July 10, 2014. Instead, the only evidence before the Court is

hat

Plaintiff submitted an Inmate Request Form on September 29, 2014, in an effort to obtain

paperwork to file criminal charges against Defendants Miller and Benftc. 554, p. 16.)

Plaintiff has offered nothing to refute Defendant Miller’'s contentions srégard. Thus, using

the Turneranalysis it is clear Plaintiff failed to exhaust his available administrative remedies

pertaining to his excessive force claims against Defendant Milléee Court shoultGRANT




this portion of Defendants Bennett's and MilleMotion andDISMISS Plaintiff's excessive
force claim against Defendant Millarthout prejudice.
Il. Deliberate Indifference Claims

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment “shall” be granted if “the movahiowsthat there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and that the moisentitled to judgment as a matter of law.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). “A disputgbout a material fact is genuine and summary judgment ig
inappropriate if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdice for f
nonmoving party. However, there must exist a conflict in substantial evidenuesé a jury

question.” Hall v. Sunjoy Indus. Grp., Inc., 764 F. Supp. 2d 1297, 1301 (M.D. Fla. 2011) (citing

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242 (1986), and Verbraeken v. Westinghouse Elec

Corp., 881 F.2d 1041, 1045 (11th Cir. 1989)).

The moving party bearhie burden of establishing that there is no genuine dispute as t

O

any material fact and thae isentitled to judgment as a matter of lageeWilliamson Qil Co.,

Inc. v. Philip Morris USA, 346 F.3d 1287, 1298 (11th Cir. 2008pecifically, the moving party

mustidentify the portions of the record which establish that there are no “genuinesfs$pistto

any material fact and the movastentitled to judgment as a matter of lawMoton v. Cowart

631 F.3d 1337, 1341 (11th Cir. 2011). When the nonmoving party would have the burden|of
proof at trial, the moving party may discharge bhigden by showing that the record lacks
evidence to support the nonmoving p&tgase or that the nonmoving party would be unable to

prove his case at trialSeeid. (citing Celotex v. Catreft477 U.S. 317, 3223 (1986)). In

determining whether a summary judgment motion should be granted, a court must view the

record and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record innaokgliavorable

10




to the nonmoving @rty. PeekA-Boo Loungeof Bradenton, Inc. v. Manatee Cty., Fla., 630 F.3d

1346, 1353 (11th Cir. 2011).

B. The Parties’ Contentions Regarding Whether Defendants Spradley and
Bennett were Deliberately Indifferent to Plaintiff’'s Serious Medical Needs

Defendant® contend Plaintiff received medical treatment, although it may not hese
the medical treatment he wanted or thought he needed. Defendant$késefft was seen by
medical personnel from either the Mayo Clinic in Waycross, Georgihedrierce County Jail
every day from July 6 to July 11, 20Mhich wasthe day after he fell down the stairs amigen
he returnedo the Jailfrom his second trip to the Mayo Clinic. (Doc.-84p. 4.) Defendants
state Plaintiff acknowledges that he received treatment after hardllhis claims are that the
medical treatment provided was deficiand that Defendants delayed in getting the EMTSs to the
Jail. However, Defendants assert that Plaintiff cannot sustain any claim thatyardeiadical
tredment exacerbated his condition, as he has no verifying medical evidence to support sug
claim.

Defendant Bennetinaintains Plaintiff cannot sustain his claims against him, even if
Plaintiff could show the medical treatment he received was objectively defici2aetendant
Bennett avers there is no evidence he was subjectively afamy known rik to Plaintiff's
medical needs or that the treatment provided by medical personnel was in somieficiant.

In addition, Defendant Bennett states he is the one who directed that the HeMdadled.
(Doc. 54-2, p. 8.)
Plaintiff responds that personnel at the MayiiClgaveDefendant Miller his release

papers and after care treatment ptan July 8, 2014, to ensure Plaintiff would receive the

® Based on the recommended dismissal of Plaintiff's claim against Defend#lat, Ntie use of

“Defendants” in discussion of Plaintiff's deliberate indifference clainfsrsetoDefendants Bennett and
Spradley, unless otherwise noted.

11
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medication he was prescribéal his dizziness. However, Plaintiff contends he was denied hig
prescription medicatian Plantiff also contends he went to the medical unit on July 9, 2014,
an attempt to be moved from his upstairs cell, and Defendant Spradley was capablengf hou

him in a cell that would have been safe for him since she knew he was suffering Zzamess.

JvJ

(Doc. 60, p. 2; Doc. 62, p. 1.) Plaintiff asserts that he also inquired about the prescrijed

medication he was to receive, and Defendant Spradley told him his medication haemot b
ordered yet. Plaintiff asserts he was in the medical unit for only four minutes) widicates
Defendant Spradlewas trying “to blow [him] off with a lame excuse[.]” (Doc. 60, p. 2.)

Plaintiff avers he went back to the medical unit on July 10, 2014, at which tim¢
Defendant Spradleyan an EKG on him, told him he was fine, and told him to quit worrying.
Plaintiff asserts he once again asked about his medication and being, modétles and lame
excuses and false promises were madéd: at p. 3.) Plaintiff contends thalsoon July 10,
2014,he was sent back to his dorm after being in the medical unit for eleven minutes, and
upstairs dormwas a location that was “clearly a hazard and danger” to him “with his knowr
medical condition.” Id. at p. 5.) According to Plaintiff, Defendants had a duty to provide him
with adequate medical care to guarantee his saftelgintiff maintains that he fell on the stairs
on July 10, 2014, as a direct result of not receiving his dgcescribed medication for twiall
days, which was the responsibility of Defendants, who were in control of his Bdaetiff
contends he received a bulging disc in his back and a separated shoulder dualto Bhesrtiff
asserts he was made to e the stairs in an uncomfortable and damaging position, ang
Defendants were aware of his situation, yet they ignored his pleadinglfpoaret left himto

endure pain and worsened his condition by prolonging his treatnidnat p. 9.)

12
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Plaintiff's allegations and Defendants’ Maoiis give rise to a discussion of the Fourteenth
Amendment, as well as a discussion of the Eighth Amendment.

C. Applicable Legal Standards

1. Kingsleyand its Aoplication

In Kingsley, the Supreme Court determined that a pretrial detainee alleging @govialht
his constitutional rights must show, under the Fourteenth Amenthtre process clausthat
an officer’s actions in an excessive use of force claim were objectively unadgdso  U.S.
at _ , 135 S. Ct. at 24423. In other words, a pretrial detainee need not prove what ¢
defendant’s state of mind was at the time of the alleged constitutional violatignthee.
subjective component in a typical Eighth Amendment excessive use of foroeatlieged by a

convicted prisonerld. The Court autioned fa] court (judge or jury) cannot apply this standard

mechanically.”Id. at ___, 135 S. Ct. at 2473 (citi@iy. of Sacramento v. Lewj$23 U.S.833,
850 (1998)). Rather, objectie reasonableness turns on thects and circumstances of each

particular casé€. Id. (quoting Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 396 (1989)).

In light of theKingsley decision,several courts have discussed its application to claims
made by pretrial detainees involving deliberate indifferaaimgations’ However, itdoes not

appear thakingsleyprovides the standard which is to be applied in this case.

" The Eleventh Circtiihas yet tdssue a ruling on the proper standard to employ in analyzing a pretria
detainee’s deliberate indifference claimlight of the Kingsley decision. Becauseof this, the Court
appliesthe standards in place at the time giving rise to the ssattforth in Plaintiff's Complaint. First,
the parties have not been put on notice the Court would apply a different standaintii®$°deliberate
indifference claims and thus, have not briefed the issue on the basis of div@bgasonableness test.
SeeHentschel v. Rockingham Cty. Dep't of Corr., Case Nect-215SM, 2015 WL 8489610, at *1 n.1
(D.N.H. Nov. 20, 2015)noting it is unclear what standard to use for a pretrial detaineelsecsk
indifference claimin Kingsleys wake but declining to appKingsleybecause thparties had not briefed
that issue). In addition, even if a pretrial detainee’s deliberate indifference slara to be analyzed
using the Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause ratheththd&ighth Amendment’s deliberate
indifference standard, the facts of this cé=sd to the conclusion Defendants nevertheless would be
entitled to summary judgmentAs discussed in this Repoitifra., Plaintiff fails to establish genuine
disputes as to any fact material to his deliberate indifference claims undéjeatively reasonable

13




2. Legal Standards at the Time of Events Giving Rise to Plaintiff's
Complaint

The Eighth Amendment’s proscription against cruel and unusual punishment imposes
constitutional duty upon prison officials to take reasonable measures to geahentafety of
prison inmates. This duty to safeguard also embodies the principle expressedCoytian

Estelle v. Gamble429 U.S. 97, 104 (1976), forbidding prison officials from demonstrating

deliberate indifference to the serious medical needs of inmates. Farmenwmai®Bréll U.S.

825, 832 (1994). However, “not every claim by a presotihat he has not received adequate

medical treatment states a violation of the Eighth AmendmeHgafris v. Thigpen, 941 F.2d

1495, 1505 (11th Cir. 1991) (quotiritstelle 429 U.S. at 105). Rather, “an inmate must allege
acts or omissions sufficientlgarmful to evidence deliberate indifference to serious medical

needs.”Hill v. DeKalb Req’l Youth Det. Ctr.40 F.3d 1176, 1186 (11th Cir. 1994).

To prevail on a deliberate indifference claim, a pretrial detainee must demonstyae “(1
serious medicaheed; (2) the defendant’s deliberate indifference to that need3andusation

between that indifference and the plaintiff's injuryYoumans v. Gagnon, 626 F.3d 557, 563

(11th Cir. 2010). A medical need is serious if it Has been diagnosed by a phian as
mandating treatment or [is] one that is so obvious that even a lay person would easilgizecog

the necessity for a doctor's attention.Goebert v. Lee Cty., 510 F.3d 1312, 1326 (11th Cir.

standard Further, because the standard applicable at the time giving rise to aidihplaintwas the
Eighth Amendment’s deliberate indifference standard, muzfets would likely be entitled to qualified
immunity, askingsleywas not the clearly established law at that tinkmss v. Corr. Officers John &
Jane Does 45, 610 F. App’x 75,77 n.1 (2d Cir. 2015) “Because our focus, in analyzing whether
qualified immunity applies, is on whether the right asserted by Ross was clearlysesilat the time of
the alleged violationwe need not addres§ngsleys possible implications for deliberate indifference
claims brought by prérial detainee$); see alsBilal v. Geo CarelLLC, Case No. 2:14v-422FtM-
38MRM, 2016 WL 345514, at * 6 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 28, 2016) (recognizingthgsley decision and
stating,“[i] n the context of conditions of confinement cases,Bighth Amendment is concerned with
deprivations ofessentials, food, medical care, or sanitation or other conditidokerable for prison
confinement. . . . The relevant state of mind for a condition claim is delibedifierence”) (citations
omitted)
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2007) (quotingHill, 40 F.3d at 1187) (emphasis supplied). As for the subjective component, tf
Eleventh Circuit has consistently required that “a defendant know of and disregaxdessive

risk to an inmate’s health and safetyHaney v. City of Cumming, 69 F.3d 1098, 1102 (11th Cir.

1995). Under the subjective prong, an inmate “must prove three things: (1) subjecti
knowledge of a risk of serious harm; (2) disregard of that risk; (3) by conduct thatasman
[gross] negligence.'Goebert, 510 F.3d at 1327.

D. Application of Legal Standards to theEvidence Presented

In her affidavitand in her Nurse’s Notes, Defendant Spradley states her daily dutie
consisted primarily of meeting with inmates who made sick call requests, digpphgsician
approved medications and some etlex-counter medications, such as Tylenol and aspirin, and
being available if theravas a medical emergendy. (Doc. 583, p. 3.) Defendant Spradley
declaresshe would assess an inmate’s complaint during a sak visit and report her
observations to Dr. Wrobel, who in turn would evaluate the complaint, review the inmate
medical history, and give instructions as to medical treattebeéfendant Spradley states she
was not permitted to dispense any prescription medications which Dr. Wrobel had nazedthor
to be filled, she was required to be supervised by a licensed physician and was bound by
physician’s orders, and was not allowed to treat patients without this superp&r SCM

policy and Jail procedures.ld( at pp. 34.) In the event of a medical emergency, Defendant

® Defendant Spradley’s affidavit echoes Murse’s Notes. The Court will not address these filings
separately, as to do so would be redundant. However, the Court has cited to both filings wh
appropriate. In addition, it appears Defendant Spradley’s Brief in Support of her Motion drayedylar
from these filings.

° Southern Correctional Medicine (“SCM”) provides various medicalises to correctional facilities
throughout southern Georgia, including Pierce County Jail. Dr. Peter Wrobethegorincipal and
medical director for SCM and supervised all of the medical treatment atlenéd to inmates at the Jail
at the time giving rise to the events forming the basis of Plaintiff's glaint. Dr. Wrobel attended
appointments at the Jail once a week and was otherwise on call for any nmsdieal which arose.
(Doc. 5841, pp. 23.) Per SCM and Jail protocol, Defendant Spradley was not permittedpense
prescription medications at the Jail which Dr. Wrobel had yet to authortzefilled.
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Spradley declares she would assess the inmate’s medical issue, teika& Bigns, and call Dr.
Wrobel who would provide instructions regarding medical treatment after reviewheof
situation and the inmate’s medical historyd. @t p. 5.) Defendant Spradley also declares she
was forbidden from calling EMTs to the Jail, unless the inmate was suffong a life
threatening emergency, such as a heart attack or significadirigedd.)

Defendant Spradlegotes Plaintiff was taken to the Mayo Clinic in Waycross, Georgia,
on July 6, 2014, with complaints of chest pain and dizziness and was discharged twoedays |
after a cardiologist cleared him and wrote him a prescripf@mn dizziness medication.
Defendant Spradley attests that she checked on Plaintiftlly 9, 2014, aftdris return from the
Mayo Clinic on July8, 2014 to see whether he was feeling better and to tell him to inform her if

he had any problemsDefendat Spradley told Plaintiff to relax and sent him back to his cell.

(Doc. B4, p. 65.) Defendant Spradley alerted Dr. Wrobel at 2:13 p.m. that Plaintiff had be¢

prescribed medication by the doctor at the hospital, but “no medications were gikestiate.
Will continue to monitor.” (Doc. 55-5, p. 2; Doc. 58-4, p. 65.)

At 9:11 on the morning of July 10, 2014, Defendant Spradéxyares Plaintiff came to
the medical unit during a sick call complaining of chest pain. After she performel@, Dr.
Wrobel concluded the results were normdDoc. 584, p. 66.) Defendant Spradley states
Plaintiff asked her when he would recelve medication, and she told him Dr. Wrobel had not
approved the filling of his prescription yet. Defendant Spradley decthie learned Plaintiff
had fallen down a staircase at approximately 2:00 p.m. that same day, despité Résiet
telling her he had problems walking up and down the stairs. (De8, p86.) Defendant
Spradley also declares Plaintiff was on thé&doa step of the staircase when she arrived at the

scene and was complaining about back pain. Further, Defendant Spradley states] gbe

16




assess Plaintiff's condition and examine his back, but he refused to allow her to dd.so.
Doc. 584, p. ®.) Defendant SpradlegbservedPlaintiff wasawake and alert, his pulse was 91,
and his blood pressure was 170/100. Defendant Spradley also noted Plaintiff had two to th
second refill in his capillaries and strong pedal pulses and was moving his hegdaratrapper
shoulders. (Doc. 58-4, p. 66.)

When she called Dr. Wrobel to report her limited assessment, Dr. Wrobel tdtHeere
Plaintiff go to the medical unit. Plaintiff refused to go, according to DefenS8prdadley
because he did not want to “move and do damag@oc. 583, p. § Doc. 555, p. 3; Doc. 58,

p. 66) Defendant Spradley avers Dr. Wrobel tbler to call him back in thirtyninutes with an
update on Plaintiff's conditioand that she stayed with Plaintiff the en®@minute duration,
during which timePlaintiff once again refused to allow her to examine him. Defendant Spradle|
also states Plaintiff asked to be placed on a backboard with a neck bracdtldstmgy-minute

time period, and she told him the Jail did not have this equipment available. Defendale\sSpr
declares she called Dr. Wrobel again, and he instructed Jail officials to ché&t&iatiff every
fifteen minutes Defendant Spradley contends she was able to observe Plaintiff from a windg
in the housing area, was in constant contact with Dr. Wrobel, and checked on Plaint
“numerous times.” (Doc. 58, p. 7.) Plaintiff asked that she and the Jail officials call the EMTs
on several occasions, but she was not authorized to do so because Plaintiff was not insthe th
of a life-threatening emergency. Defendant Spradley states she remained atl tfoe Jai
approximately two and a half hours after her shift ended “for the specific puigfosastinuing

to monitor and attempting to assess Pldistinedical condition.” Id.) Defendant Spradley
noted Plaintiff had come back from the hospital and was placed in a holding cell uatitivar

on July 11, 2014, and for observation. Plaintiff reported he was “okay just a littlé sore
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(Doc. 55-5 p. 5; Doc. 5&4, p. 68.) Defendant Spradley attests to her belief that Plaintiff was not
suffering fromany serious medical harm or had a serious medical need and that she acteq
accordance with SCM and Jail policies and professional standards govdroensed
professional nurses. (Doc. 58-3, p. 6.)

Another nurse, RitdMcNeal also completed a “Nurse Note” at 7:00 p.m. on July 10,
2014, and stated she was called in to check on Plaintiff because he had fallen earlieythat
(Doc. 555, p. 4; Doc. 581, p. 67.) Ms. McNeal statedhe saw Plaintiff lying on his back at the
bottom of the stairs, talking to officers and other inmates, and moving his head, arnegtand f
Plaintiff told her he was not movirfgom the stairsintil the EMTs were ther® place him on a
backboardgive him a neck braceand take him to the emergency room. Plaintiff also told Ms.
McNeal his lower back was hurting “real bad[,]” he had no numbness in histétgs and he
had no loss of consciousness or dizziness. (Do&, 36 4; Doc. 581, p. 67.) Ms. McNeal
detected no signed of an open wound or bleeding, and she observed Plaintiff hqukdmiod
pulses and normal capillary refill in both feet, which were warm to the touch. fleefitised

any further evaluatin at that time andianted the EMTs to be called.

Ms. McNeal noted Plaintiff raised his head and neck to talk to her, and she also noted

movement in his arms and fe8t. Plaintiff still refused to allow Ms. McNeal to complete her
evaluation Ms. McNealcalled Dr. Wrobel, who advised her to get a backbdaptace Plaintiff
on it, and transfer him to the medical unit. According to Ms. McNeal, Plaintiff farse said

only the EMTs were going to touch him. Upon being advised of Plaintiff's continfieshle

19 plaintiff admitted during his depositidme was moving his armand was able to move his head
(Doc. 55-1, pp. 38, 69

1 Given Defendant Spradley’s and Plaintiff's accounts, Plaintiff was tioéd Jail did not have a
backboard. Either Ms. McNeal or Dr. Wrobel was mistaken, or Ms. MdNgealded to write “stretcher”
or “gurney” ratherthan “backboard”. In any event, this discrepancy does not createiiageiispute as
to any fact material to Plaintiff’'s deliberate indifference claims.
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Dr. Wrobel told Ms. McNeal to leave Plaintiff where he veasl have officers check on him
everythirty minutes. Plaintiff then said, “I will die on these stairs before | let yall [sig}s@t

and officers) touch me and Ramsey Bett (sheriff) walld have that on his conscious [sic] for
the rest of his life.” (Doc. 5%, p. 4; Doc. 58, p. 67.) At this time, Defendant Bennett was
calledto update him on the situation and made the decision to call the EMTs té laavieff
taken to the emergemaoom for evaluation. Dr. Wrobel was advised of Defendant Bennett’s
decision.

The parties also submitted copies of Plaintiff's medical records from the Miayic.C
Plaintiff was admitted on July 6, 201domplaining of chest pain and dizziness. Oly 8,
2014, Plaintiff had an EKG, which was normal. Plaintiff also had a CT scan of kisvit@iah
revealed normal findingsPlaintiff was discharged after being prescribed medications for pair
and dizzinessas needed. (Docs. 40 611, pp. 12, 6, 8) After Plaintiff's fall on July 10,
2014, he once again was se¢rthe Mayo Cliniccomplaining of lumbar and right shoulder pain.
The physical examination revealbdck pain and full range of motion with pain in his right
shoulder. Plaintiff had anx-ray of his shoulder, which revealed “no acute findings. Cédvi
osteolysis, and the xray of his lumbar also revealed no acute findings. Likewise, the CT of
Plaintiff's lumbar revealed no acute findings. (Doc. 58-7, p. 4; Doc&, 6a-1, p. 12.)

During his deposition, Plaintiffestified that hesaw the nurse (presumably Defendant
Spradley on the morning of July 10, 2014, and told her he needed his medication and asked
to move him “somewhere” because he was “suffering from dizziftés¢Doc. 55-1, p. 32.)
Plaintiff admitted he asked to go to medical that morning and was able to see.aRiamsgff

also testified that he was not sure who was supposed to fill his prescription, butnti&refe

12 plaintiff also testified that he only informed Reflant Miller upon his return to Pierce County Jail on
July 8, 2014, that he needed to be in a different cell. According to Plaintiéih@ent Miller toldhim
medical personnel wera charge of that decision. (Doc. 55-1, p. 101.)
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Spradley was aware of his medical problendit was in her authority to do something about it,
she should hav€ (Id. at p. 33.) Plaintiff later testified he understood Defendant Spradley wa
not who was in charge of ordering medications, but he did not understand why she had him
back upstairs. (Id. at pp. 3536.) Plaintiff stated that, once he went back to his cell, he laid
down for a bit because he felt dizzyout he had to go up and down the stairs to eat, watch
television, to use the phone, or to even take a bédhat(p. 40.) Plaintiff stated he had gone up
and down the stairs more than once without incitbeidre he fell. If. at p. 52.) Plaintiff also
statedhe told the flooofficers he was feelindizzy after Defendant Spradley had seen him that
morning, but he never told Defendant Spradley he was having issues walking down the st3
(Doc. 55-2, pp. 16-17.)

When Plaintiff fell down the stairs, Defendant Spradley was one of the foptepen the
scene She “checked [him] out” by checking his pulse and blood pressure and asked him if
could stand. (Doc. 5%, p. 41; Doc. 52, p. 19) Plaintiff stated he tried to move, but a pain
shot through his back and down his leg, so he told her he could not move. Defendant Spra
told Plaintiff she could not help him if heould not get up, and she sat with him for a few

minutes, talking with him, and checked him out again before leaWtantiff asserts he was on

the stairs cryin@nd asking for help, and Defendant Bennett said “he wanted justice.” (Doc. 5%

1, p. 51.) When asked more about this, Plaintiff said Defendant Bennett was only in the room

one occasion, and Plaintiff had no idea if Defendant Spradley told Defendant Bennett of

13 Conversely, Plaintiff later stated he asked Defendant Spradley abtiog ¢t medication on July 10,
2014, at which time she told him Dr. Wrobel had not ordered it yet but he would get histimedica
Plaintiff repeatedly stated Defendant Spradley @t give him medication which had not been filled
and that Dr. Wrobel had not gotten around to ordering it yet. (De2, pp.6—7, 9.) Plaintiff further
stated he had no idea whether Defendant Spradieslly had the authority to move him to anottell,

as she told him she did nethereas Defendant Miller told himehlid. (d. atpp. 23, 5.) In addition,
Plaintiff testified that he was not sure whether there were anlableacellson the bottom floor. 1. at

p. 15.)
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condition, yet Defendant Bennett insisted there was nothing wrong with Rla{hdi. at p. 64.)
Plaintiff testified that two officers stayed in the general area for a little whdespoke to him,
and he was able to eat a biscuit and drink some watdr.at(pp. 5859.) During this time,
Defendant Spradley kept coming in until he heard Defendant Bennett speak over tloeninterg
that the jailors could watcRlaintiff on the camera.ld. at pp. 6661.) Plaintiff admitted it was
possible personnel checked on him by viewing him on camera.

At one point, Officer Travis Miller fiered to help Plaintiff to get off of the stairgVhile
Plaintiff denied refusing to get up, he stated he told Officer Miller he could not amalvthat he
“felt it was in my best interest thatif they got a neck [brace] and back[board]ld. (@t p. 66)
Plaintiff stated Defendant Spradley told him the Jail did not have that kind of eeuipme
Plaintiff testified he had no knowledge whether Defendant Spradley spoke with BloeMar
about what they discussed, nor did he have knowledge if Defendautl&ppassed along any
information to Jail personnel. Id( at pp. 7576.) Plaintiff testified that, even if Defendant
Bennett had called the EMTs to come get him, making him lay down on the stairs Houss
was “harsh.” Id. at p. 79.) Plaintiff reiterated that his complaint boils down to being left on the
stairs for hours while he was in pain instead of getting him what he deemed “prapiealme
attention” or “proper, adequate medical attentione., calling the EMTs. (Doc. 52, p. 24
80.) Plaintiff stated he also complains about the gatagetting what he deemeguoper medical

attention. [d. at p. 93.) Plaintiff testified Defendant Spradley offered to take him to the medical

unit four times, but he felt the offer was not any good because she could not actualim get hi

there, even though she offered to take him in a wheelcfidirat . 30, 37.)
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1. Conclusions Regarding Events Before Plaintiff's Fall

Even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaimgffailsto establish a
genuine dispute as to any fact material to his deliberate indifference claimst dy@iendants
concerning events prior to his fallnstead, the evidence reveals that Plaiditfissatisfied with
the level of care he received as a lestihis alleged dizzinesand lack of purportedly necessary
medicationon July 10, 2014. The Court notes Plaintiff's contentions that he went to the medig
unit that morning and complained about being dizzy and that Defendant Spradley couNg not g
him the medication fohis conditionbecause it had not yet been ordered. However, there is n
evidencePlaintiff informed Defendant Spradley he was having trouble going up and down th
stairsor that she otherwise knew of any probleigintiff was experiecing. Rather, Plaintiff
testified that he told the floafficers he was having trouble, and there is no indicatiother
than fran Plaintiffs Complaint—such concerns were relayed to Defendants. Moreover, Plaintifi
made a telephone call later that mingy which required him to climb down the stairs and back
up again, (docs. 60, 611, p. 77), and there is no evidence he had trouble doiagtbkat time.
Consequently, Plaintiff has failed to show that Defendants were aware, \ddjectir
subjectivey, of a serious risk to Plaintiff's health and safety prior to his fall.

Further, there is no supportedidence that the medicatidPlaintiff was prescribeavas
necessary since this medication was prescribed on an as needed (or “PRN* (@sis. 601,
p. 1.) Moreover, Plaintiff admits that Defendant Spradley was not able to dieaimetication
Plaintiff professed to need on that day. The facts are undisputed that Defenddley®mad
not fill the prescription herself Moreover, Rdintiff admits thathe ha no idea whether
Defendant Spradlefiad the authority to move him from his upstairs cell to a cell downstairs

Plaintiff cannot establish a genuine dispute as to whether Defendants’ actinastmmi caused

1 http://medicaldictionary.thefreedictionary.com/p.r Jast accesseéeh 3, 2016.
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him to fdl. McDaniels v. Lee 405 F. App’x 456, 458 (11th Cir. 201000 prevail on a claim

of deliberate indifference, a plaintiff must sho(®) a semwus medical need; (2) defendant’
deliberate indifference to that need; and d&ysation between the defendantidifference and

the plaintiff's injury”) (citing Mann v. Taser Int; Inc.,, 588 F.3d 1291, 13667 (11th

Cir. 2009)). In other words, Plaintiff fails to show thatssuming he had a serious medical need,
Defendants were aware of any risk posed by not being moved to another cell ogbitingthis
medicationsand that Defendants’ deliberate indifference caused Plaamtyfinjury.
2. Events Occurring After Plaintiff's Fall

As to Plaintiff's claimsregarding eventsafter his fall Plaintiff specifically asserts that
Defendant Spradley offered to help him on several occasions after.h@l@htiff makes much
ado about whether he refused Defendant Spradtd#fes or whether he simply was physically
unable to get up from the stairs without having a backboard or a neck brace. However, the
semantis of this point of contention amet actually material to any fact relevant to Plaintiff's
deliberate indifference claimslhe undisputecevidence revealthat Defendant Spradley offered
medical treatment to Plaintiff on several occasions, and Plaintiff did not acesptdfiers—for

whatever reason.Defendant Spradley repeatedly monitored and assessed Plaintiff and ev

11
>

stayed after her shift was complet®dcontinue to assess his conditioMoreover, Defendant
Spradley repeatedly offered treatment to Plaintiff which, for whateason, Plaintiff declined.
Plaintiff's assertions and the evidence do not support a finding of a genuine dispute ag to
whether Defendant Spradley was objectively indifferent to Plaintifisdical needs. Instead,
Plaintiff's complaint lies, as he readily admitted, witht getting what he deemed to be proper
medical attention after his fall This is an insufficient basis faiable deliberate indifference

claims under the Eighth drourteenthAmendment. Wilson v. Smith 567 F. App’x 676, 678
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(11th Cir. 2014)"[A] simple difference in medal opinion between the prisemedical staff
and the inmate as to the lateediagnosis or course of treatment” does not support a claim o
deliberate indifference.Moreover, matters of medical judgment do not constitute deliberate

indifference’) (citing Harris v. Thigpen, 941 F.2d 1495, 1501 (11th Cir. 1991),Estdlle 429

U.S. at 107. In addition, Plaintiff does not refute Defendant Spradley’s averment thatashe

acting within the parameters of SCM and Jail policies and proceddfekosey v. Warden, 521

F. App’x 717, 720 (11th Cir. 2013)‘[F] ailure to follow procedures does not, by itself, rise to
the level of deliberate indifference because doing so is at most a form igfenegl It would

be a differentsituation if the policy that [defendantiiled to follow put them on notice that
their actions would create substantial risk of serious harm to inmates,[phaintiff] makes no

such allegatiori) (quoting Taylor v. Adams, 221 F.3d 1254, 1259 (11th Cir. 2000)).

3. Perceived Delay in Obtaining Treatment by Defendant Bennett
As for Defendant Bennett, the evidee bearut that the crux of Plaintiff's complaint
against him concerrtbe perceived delay in obtaining medical treatnielhidwing his fall down
the stairs At most, the evidence reveals Defendant Bennett saw Plaintiff after hen fetleo

occasion and believed there was nothing wnit Plaintiff, despite Plaintiff's assertion he was

screaming and begging for helfHowever, there is no evidence that Defendant Bennett was

subjectively aware that Plaintiff was suffering from a serious medical aeddacted in an
objectively unreasonable manner. In fact, Plaintiff admitted during his depokg had no
knowledge whether Defendant Benneths awareof Plaintiff's alleged medical needsr
whether Defendant Bennett thought Plaintiff was faking his injurfiP®c. 551, p. 65; Doc. 55

2, pp. 8889.) Additionally, the only evidence as to who called the EMTSs, even after Plaintiff

was purportedly lying on thstairs forsix hours’ time, reveals Defendant Bennett called the
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EMTs. The evidence also bears that the EMTs arrived at the Jail not long aftedddfen
Bennett called them to transport Plaintiff to the emergency rddoreover, Defendant Bennett
did not leave Plaintiff bereft of medical treatmgemats Defendant Spradley was continually
monitoring and assessing Plaintiff and offering treatment to Plaintiff (whichtiflagfused).

To the extent Plaintiff maintains @hdelay in calling the EMTsexacebated his
conditions, the evidence before the Court does not support such a contention. To prove a d
in providing medical treatment caused harm, a plaintiff npuesent evidence of! (1) the
seriousness of the medical need; (2) whether the delay worsened the medicalngan (3)

the reason for the delay. Keele v. Glynn Cty., Ga., 938 F. Supp. 2d 1270, 1292 (S.D.

Ga 2013) (quotingGoebert 510 F.3d at 1337 However, “accidental inadequacy, negligence

in diagnosis or treatment, [andjedical malpracticé are insufficient to sustain a claim of

deliberate indifference. Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Nimmons v. Aviles 409 E
App’x 295, 297 (11th Cir2011). In addition, a plaintiff who asserts that a delay in obtaining
medical treatment amounts to a constitutional violation is required to subnfiting medical
evidenceinto the recordto establish the detrimental effect of [any] delay in medical treatment|

to succeed.” _McDaniels v. Led05 F. App’x 456, 45&%9 (11th Cir. 2010) (internal citation

omitted). What medical evidence is of record shows tthere were no acute finding$ injury
as to Plaintiff'sshoulder or his lower bacR. This evidencerefutes any contention thany
alleged delay in getting Plaintifransported by EMTs to the Mayo Clinic exacerbated any

condition from which he suffered.

15 «Acute’ refers to a health condition, usually of rapid onset and is sometimes used to mean’“seve
http://www.medilexicon.com/medicaldictionary.php?t=100ast accessed~eh 3, 2016. Because
Plaintiff’'s medical records reveal “no acute findirigs follows that Plaintiff's bulging disc and claval
osteolysis did not occummediately preceding these tests. Instead, these injuries appear to havedoccur
prior toJuly 10, 2014. Even if these injuries had occurred on July 10, 2014, there is still no exhdénce t
any perceied delay contributed to or worsened Plaintiff’'s conditions.

25

elay

[



http://www.medilexicon.com/medicaldictionary.php?t=1007

In sum, Plaintiff fails to establish the existence of a genuine dispute as tfaany
material to his deliberate indifference claims. Accordingly, it is unnecessaagdress the

gualified immunityportions of Defendants’ Motions. Martinez v. Burns, 459 F. App’x 849, 851

(11th Cir. 2012) (a qualified immunity defense need not be addressed if the plaintiff cann
sustain an underlying constitutional claim).
[I. Motion in Limine (Doc. 36)

Plaintiff contends Defendants will attempt to introduce evidence of or makemnegeto
his convictions for burglary, theft by taking, and criminal trespassing in 1997 andrfonat
trespassing in 2007 and in 2013. (Doc. 36, p. 1.) Plaintiff contends his convictions for the
offenses are unrelated to his present cause of action, and introduction of this ewioelccdo
nothing other than place his character at issue. Plaintiff also contends allovergl&rés to
introduce such evidence would be highly prejudicial. Defendants respond that, innthefeve
trial, they intend to use evidence of Plaintiff’'s criminal convictions only textent permissible
under the Federal Rules of Evidence.

“Evidence of a person’s character or character trait is not admissible to pabvanth
particular occasion the person acted in accordance with the character or trait.” Estd.R.
404(a). An exception to this general rule is that evidence of a ssitrearacter may be

admitted under Rule 609. Rule 609 of the Federal Rules of Evidence allows a pebson t

se

impeached by evidence of a criminal conviction. Provided the probative value of evidence of a

criminal conviction is not outweighed by its dan@é unfair prejudice, this evidence “must be
admitted[ ]” in a civil case if the crime was punishable by imprisonment of moreatyaar’s
time or death or if the elements of the crime required proof of a dishonest ateorestia Fed.

R. Evid. 609(a)(1)(A), (2). In the event that more than ten years have passed since
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conviction or release from confinement, such evidence in only admissible if itsipeobalue
substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect and the proponent of this evidesesereasonable
written notice of the intent to use this evidence. Fed. R. Evid. 609(b).

Given the recommendation that the Court grant Defendants’ Motions for Summarty
Judgment and dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint, Plaintiff's Motion in LimineDISMISSED as
moot at this time. However, in the event the Court rejects this recommendation and denigs
Defendants’ Motions for Summary Judgment, the Court cannot rule on Plaintiff ®rMioti
Limine. Without any context for the introduction of evidence of Plaintiftgninal convictions
at any putative trial in this case, the Court cannot determine whether this evideuld be
admissible at trial. The Court recognizes the inherent prejudicial effpoegenting evidence of
Plaintiff's criminal convictions. However, should Plaintiff decide to testiffythe trial of this
case, his credibility will be for the jury to determine. Part of that deteton could be based
on Plaintiff's status as a convicted felon. In the event this case proceed§ ®laintiff may re
urge his Motion.

V. Motion for Spoliation Sanctions (Doc. 67)

Plaintiff contends he has shown that Defendants were in possession of the videotape
footage of his fall on July 10, 2014. Plaintiff maintains Defendants destroyed thigepoataich
would have brought everything “in question into vivid clairity [sic] and would have exposed
them for what they really are.” (Doc. 67, pp43 Plaintiff asserts an incident report was made,
which means that the videotape footage should have been preserved. According th ®iginti
videotape footage would have shown exactly what he claims. Plaintiff regoastheé Court

sanction Defendants for the destruction of this evidéhce.

'® Plaintiff also requests that Doctor Wrobel be added back as a Defendant in thiPleastiff’s claims
against Defendant Wrobel (referred to as “Robles” in his original Contplaere dismissed by Order
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Defendant$’ assert Plaintiff cannot satisfy the bad faith requirenienspoliation, and
his Motion is due to be denied. Defendants also allege that it has already beere@xpka

video recording system used in the Pierce County Jail is a “loop type syskech’rnecords over

itself every 28 to 30 days. (Doc. 69, p. 1.) Defendants maintain a request for this footage yas

not made until they were served with Plaintiff's Request for Production seven miethha

incident and three months after this Court sanctioned service of Plaintiff's Gotnplehus,

Defendantsassert, they were unaware of any need to preserve this evidence and cannot be fqund

liable for spoliation of evidence.

dated December 12, 2014. (Doc. 26.) Plaintiff offers no allegations to tesi§murt to reconsider that
Order.

Further, Plaintiff requests that he be appointed an attorney. In thicasdl Plaintiff has no
constitutional right to the appointment of counsel. Wright v. Langford, 562 F. Ag®x777 (11th Cir.
2014) (citingBass v. Perrin170 F.3d 1312, 1320 (11th Ci999)). “Although a court may, pursuant to
28 U.S.C. 8 1915(e)(1), appoint counsel for an indigent plaintiff, it has broadtidisare making this
decision, and should appoint counsel only in exceptional circumstanteg£iting Bass 170F.3d at
1320). Appointment of counsel in a civil case is a “privilege that isfiecstonly by exceptional
circumstances, such as where the facts and legal issues are so novel or complex as ttheequirg
assistance of a trained practitioneEbwler v. Jones, 899 F.2d 1088, 1096 (11th €890) (citingPoole
v. Lambert, 819 F.2d 1025, 1028 (11th di®87),andWahl v. Mclver 773 F.2d 1169, 1174 (11th Cir.
1985)). The Eleventh Circuit has explained that “the key” to assessing whethresek shouldbe
appointed “is whether the pro se litigant needs help in presenting the egsenitiglof his or her position

174

to the court. Where the facts and issues are simple, he or she usually will not need such help.

McDaniels v. Lee405 F. App’'x 456, 457 (1h Cir. 2010) (quotingKilgo v. Ricks 983 F.2d 189, 193
(11th Cir. 1993)).

The Court has reviewed the record and pleadings in this case and finds nptiteate
circumstances” warranting the appointment of counsel. While the Court understent Plaitiff is
incarcerated, this Court has repeatedly found that “prisoners tlaeneive special consideration
notwithstanding the challenges of litigating a case while incarcerakéahipton v. Peeples, No. CV 614-
104, 2015 WL 4112435, at *2 (S.D. Ga. July 7, 2015). “Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit has consistent
upheld district courts’ decisions to refuse appointment of counsel in 42 U.S.C. § 1888 aunilar to
this case for want of exceptional circumstancdsd.”(citing Smith v. Warden, Hardee Coinst., 597 F.
App’x 1027, 1030 (11th Cir2015); Wright, 562 F. App’x at 777;_Faulkner v. Monroe Cty. Sheriff's
Dep't, 523 F. App’x 696, 702 (11th Ci2013);McDaniels 405 F. App’x at 457Sims v. Nguyen403 F.
App’x 410, 414 (11th Cir2010);Fowler, 899 F.2d at 1091, 109&/ahl, 773 F.2d at 1174). This case is
not so complex legally or factually to prevent Plaintiff from presenting ‘#bsential merits of his
position” to the Court. Plaintiff's request iSDENIED. In addition, this Court has already denied
Plaintiff's previouslyfiled Motion for Appointment of Counsel. (Docs. 13, 14.)

" Defendant Spradley correctly notes it is unclear whether Plaintiff inclbée in his Motion for

Spoliation Sanctions. BCourt still refers to Defendants in the collective.
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Plaintiff's Motion isDISMISSED as moot. As statedpreviously in this Report, Plaintiff
has failed toestablish a genuine dispute as to any fact material to his deliberate imdiéfere
claims. In addition, Plaintiff does not dispute that he was offered medicahassisonly that
he did not receive what he deemed togreper treatment.While the Courtnotes Defendants
may have seen this videotape footage, there is nothing before thei@bcating that this
footage would have any bearing on the Court’'s summary judgment analysis. In the abg
analysis, he ReportlreadyconstruedPlaintiff's factualallegations in his favoand resolved all
factual disputes in his favorConsequently, even if the video supported Plaintiff's version of
events, it would not affect the recommendation on summary judgment. Put another way, wh
the video footage may have assisted Plaintiff in convincing the jury that hisrvefsevents is
true, the Court already accepts that version of events in its summary judgnadygisa
Consequently the video footage would not have created a genuine dispute of material fact

The Court also recognizes that this footage may reveal that Defendant telséet
Plaintiff. However, as explained abgWaintiff did not exhaust his administrative remedies as
to this claim Thus, the Court cannot entertain the merits of such a clRiebatedly, Plaintiff
filed noinmaterequest or grievance regarding the July 10, 2014, incident until more than tw

months later, which would have been aftes footage was recorded over,2afendants allege,

without any intent to destroy evidence they knew or should have known was to be pr&serveg.

Thus, Plaintiff's Motion iDISMISSED as moot.

8 Therelevant portion of the current version of Rule 37 provides:
If electronically stored information that should have been presenva ianticipation or
conduct of litigation is lost becauseparty failed to take reasonable steps to preserve it,
and it cannot be restored or replaced through additional discovery, the court:

(1) upon finding prejudice to another party from loss of the information, may
order measures no greater than necessayréothe prejudice; or
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V. Leave to Appealln Forma Pauperis

The Court should also deny Plaintiff leave to appeaforma pauperis.’® Though
Plaintiff has, of course, not yet filed a notice of appeal, it would be apatepo address these
issues in the Court’s order of dismiss&eeFed. R. App. R. 24(a)(1)(A) (“A party who was
permitted to proceeih forma pauperisin the districtcourt action, . . ., may proceed on appgeal
forma pauperis without further authorization, unless the district cedoefore or after the notice
of appeal is filed—certifies that the appeal is not taken in good faith[.]”) (italics suppliédh.
appeal canot be takerin forma pauperis if the trial court certifies, either before or after the
notice of appeal is filed, that the appeal is not taken in good faith. 28 U.S.C. § 191%@)(3)
R. App. P. 24(a)(3). Good faith in this context must be judged by an objective staBdadh

v. Cty. of Volusia, 189 F.R.D. 687, 691 (M.D. Fla. 1999). A party does not proceed in god

faith when he seeks to advance a frivolous claim or argun#&ggCoppedge v. United States

369 U.S. 438, 445 (1962). A claim orgament is frivolous when it appears the factual
allegations are clearly baseless or the legal theories are indisputabtiesaeriNeitzke v.

Williams, 490 U.S. 319, 327 (1989Larroll v. Gross 984 F.2d 392, 393 (11th Cir. 1993).

Stated another way, an forma pauperis action is frivolous and, thus, not brought in good faith,

(2) only upon finding that the party acted with the intent to deprive anoanir
of the information’s use in the litigation may:

(A) presume that the lost information was unfavorable to the party;

(B) instruct the jury thatt may or must presume the information was
unfavorable to the party; or

(C) dismiss the action or enter a default judgment.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 3&). Plaintiff has not shown he meets the (1) criteria or that Defendants iacted
accordance with (2).

19 A Certificate of Appealability (“COA”) is not required to file an appieah Section 1983 action.
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if it is “without arguable merit either in law or fact.Napier v. Preslicka, 314 F.3d 528, 531

(11th Cir. 2002);see also Brown v. United States, Nos. 407CVv085, 403CR001, 2009 W

307872, at *1-2 (S.D. Ga. Feb. 9, 2009).

Based on the above analysisDefendants’ Motions for Summary Judgmehere are no
non4rivolous issues to raise on appeal, and any appeal would not be taken in goodHash.
the Court shoul®ENY Plaintiff in forma pauperis status on appeal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, it is MRECOMMENDATION that the Court GRANT
Defendants’ Motions for Summary JudgmeiiDocs.54, 58.) | alsoRECOMMEND thatthe
Court DISMISS Plaintiff's Complaint CLOSE this case, an®@ENY Plaintiff leave to proceed
in forma pauperis on appeal. Plaintiff's Motion in Limine and his Motion for Spoliation
SanctionareDISMISSED as moot. (Docs. 36, 67.)

The CourtORDERS any party seeking to object to this Report and Recommendation tq
file specific written objections withifourteen (14) daysof the date on which this Report and
Recommendation is entered. Any objections asserting that the Magistratdalledig® address
any contention raised in the Complaint must also be included. Failure to do so will hateany

challenge or review of the factual findings or legal conclusions of the Matgistudge.See28

U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(C);_ Thomas v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140 (1985)opy of the objections must be
served upon all other parties to the action. The filing of objections is not a proper vehiqg
through which to make new allegations or present additional ewadenc

Upon receipt of Objections meeting the specificity requirement set out above,ea Unit
States District Judge will makeda novo determination of those portions of the report, proposed

findings, or recommendation to which objection is made and may accept, rejeaidity m
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whole or in part, the findings or recommendations made by the Magistrate JuajgetioDs not
meeting the specificity requirement set out above will not be considered byriatlDisdge. A
party may not appeal a Magistrate Judge’s report and recommendatictty doethe United
StatesCourt of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. Appeals may be made only from a final
judgment entered by or at the direction of a District Judge. The Clerk of CRIRECTED
to serve a copy of this Report and Recommendation upon the parties.

SO ORDERED ard REPORTED and RECOMMENDED, this 8th day of February,

7, . }/,/_

R. STAN BAKER
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA

2016.
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